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12-0021 

ORDER 
 
By the Commission: 
 
 Midwestern Telecommunications, Incorporated d/b/a M.T.I. ("M.T.I.") is a tele-
communications carrier as defined in Section 13-202 of the Public Utilities Act (“Act”). 
M.T.I. received Certificates of Service Authority on July 9, 1997 in Docket 97-0132 and 
on April 9, 2003 in Docket 02-0691 for the provision of local exchange and interex-
change telecommunications services, respectively within the State of Illinois. M.T.I. also 
possesses certificates of service authority to provide cellular mobile services and pre-
paid calling card services. 
 
 In a Telecommunications Division Staff Report dated December 29, 2011, the 
Staff recommends that the Commission investigate the compliance of M.T.I. with state 
and federal rules, regulations, orders, and laws governing eligible telecommunications 
carriers (“ETCs”), and M.T.I.’s participation in state and federal Lifeline/Linkup Universal 
Service Fund (“USF”) programs. 
 
 As detailed in the Staff Report, Section 254 of the Federal Communications Act 
of 1934 (“Federal Act”) codifies a national policy commitment that all citizens in all re-
gions of the Nation, including low-income consumers, should have access to telecom-
munications and information services at affordable rates. The Federal Lifeline/Link-Up 
program is a major universal service support program intended to further this commit-
ment. Lifeline provides low-income consumers with discounts of up to $10 off the 
monthly cost of telephone service for a single telephone line in their principal residence. 
Link-Up provides low-income consumers with discounts of up to $30.00 off of their initial 
costs of installing telephone service. 
 
 Pursuant to Sections 254 and 214 of the Federal Act, only carriers designated as 
ETCs may receive Lifeline/Link-Up subsidy support. Pursuant to Section 214 of the 



Federal Act, this Commission is the entity charged with authority and responsibility to 
designate ETCs in Illinois. Every time the Commission designates a carrier as an ETC, 
it must determine that doing so is in the public interest. Thus, while the Federal Life-
line/Link-Up programs are administered directly by the Universal Service Administrative 
Company (“USAC”), this Commission also plays critical roles in implementation of Fed-
eral Lifeline/Link-Up “low income” programs in Illinois. 
 
 Staff raises the issue of subsidies distributed to certain wireless ETCs, centering 
specifically around pre-paid wireless resellers. Most or all of these carriers target Life-
line customers as their primary or sole business in Illinois. This is possibly due to the 
significant sums of money that can be claimed through the federal Lifeline and Linkup 
programs. The pre-paid resale (or primarily resale) business model is well suited to gain 
access to federal USF revenue streams while minimizing most costs of actually provid-
ing service to Lifeline customers. The pre-paid (as opposed to post-paid monthly billing) 
aspect of this model minimizes ongoing costs by avoiding the substantial costs incurred 
in establishing and maintaining a monthly billing relationship with customers. The resale 
(or primarily resale) attribute minimizes initial costs of customer activation and connec-
tion. Staff claims that this model also is particularly well suited to potential abuse and 
flouting of the rules governing the federal Lifeline and Linkup programs.  
 
 The provision of prepaid wireless Lifeline service increases the potential for 
fraud, waste, and abuse in a number of specific ways. For example, when phones and 
usage are provided at no charge and customers never receive a bill, a customer may 
receive service in his/her name paid entirely through USF subsidies distributed directly 
to the customer’s telephone provider. Under such circumstances, subsidies may be 
provided to a carrier in a customer’s name - without the customer ever knowing, and 
without the customer ever receiving service. Where customers don’t pay directly for 
service, and have no billing relationship with the provider, risks that error or fraud will be 
undetected increase markedly. 
 
 In short the prepaid wireless resale (or primarily resale) business model is 
uniquely well positioned to gain access to Lifeline and Linkup subsides while minimizing 
costs of providing subsidized service, and if the ETC is so inclined, to take advantage of 
any weaknesses in program protections against waste, fraud and abuse.  
 
Midwestern Telecommunications, Incorporated  
 
 M.T.I. was designated an ETC for its wireline operations on August 26, 2006 
(Docket No. 06-0038). M.T.I. was subsequently designated an ETC for its (pre-paid) 
wireless operations on March 9, 2011 (Docket No. 10-0524). Staff has claimed that, 
since becoming an ETC for its pre-paid wireless operations, M.T.I.’s subsidy receipts 
have grown significantly and now virtually all come from its prepaid wireless operations. 
As presented in the Staff Report, M.T.I. received, for its Illinois prepaid wireless opera-
tions, over three times the amount of federal Lifeline and Linkup subsidies received by 
all incumbent local exchange carriers in November 2011. 
 



 Since M.T.I.’s March 9, 2001 designation as a pre-paid wireless ETC, infor-
mation has come to light that suggests M.T.I. is not operating in a manner consistent 
with the public interest. Staff reports having received unconfirmed allegations that M.T.I. 
is willfully deceiving the Commission and federal officials by, among other things, mak-
ing calls on Lifeline supported wireless phones to provide the erroneous appearance 
that such phones are in use by customers. Staff has forwarded these allegations to 
Federal authorities. In addition, Staff reports that, based upon Wisconsin Public Service 
Commission Staff allegations of misconduct by M.T.I. in implementing Wisconsin Life-
line programs, the Wisconsin Public Service Commission provisionally revoked M.T.I.’s 
ETC designation during the pendency of a comprehensive investigation. For the mo-
ment, M.T.I. is not eligible to receive funding from the USF low income program for 
Wisconsin customers. While the Commission is fully aware that these represent allega-
tions, the Commission is of the opinion that these allegations provide a basis for the ini-
tiation of an investigation into M.T.I.'s Illinois operations regarding compliance with 
State and federal requirements. 
 
 Staff alleges that the most recent Lifeline/Linkup program participation infor-
mation M.T.I. filed with this Commission for its wireless operations appear to contain 
incorrect, false or, at minimum, extremely problematic information. According to M.T.I.’s 
filing, the number of new Lifeline applications approved for the months of July, August, 
and September 2011 equaled (for each month) the total number of Lifeline customers 
M.T.I. reported at the end of each month. According to Staff, this means that the only 
customers on M.T.I.’s Lifeline program at the end of each of these three months were 
new customers. If accurate, all previously existing customers must have terminated 
M.T.I.’s Lifeline service (i.e., no customers retained this M.T.I. service for more than 
one month). 
 
 Staff further reports that, in August 2011, due to ongoing concerns with M.T.I.’s 
behavior and performance as an ETC, Staff procured all wireless Lifeline program en-
rollment applications granted by M.T.I. for the two week period August 1, 2011 to Au-
gust 15, 2011. Staff also procured the documentation for each application required to 
establish the applicant’s eligibility to participate in Lifeline/Linkup support programs. On 
inspection, some of the forms submitted appear to be erroneous, inappropriate or inad-
equate as a basis to enroll the applicant in Lifeline/Linkup support programs. Among 
the apparent deficiencies are lack of required signatures and/or dates, invalid or out-
dated proof of eligibility, and indications of a potential signature forgery. 
 
Re-definition of USF Supported Service  
 
 The Staff Report further details that, on November 18, 2011, the Federal Com-
munications Commission (“FCC”) issued an Order (“USF/ICC Order”)(WC Docket No. 
10-90, GN Docket No. 09-51, WC Docket No. 07-135, WC Docket No. 05-337, CC 
Docket No. 01-92, CC Docket No. 96-45, WC Docket No. 03-109, WT Docket No. 10-
208, Report and Order and Further Notice of Proposed Rulemaking) significantly revis-
ing and reforming the rules and regulations governing the federal “high cost” USF, and 
the current system of inter-carrier compensation payments . 



 
 The USF/ICC Order redefines USF eligible supported service as a single item: 
voice telephony service. The component functionalities of this service are voice grade 
access to the public switched network, minutes of local use provided at no additional 
charge, access to emergency services, and toll limitation for qualifying low-income con-
sumers. 
 
 Staff claims that, for purposes of investigating M.T.I.’s status as an ETC, the im-
portance of this FCC redefinition is the absence of “access to directory assistance” as a 
supported service. Access to directory assistance is the single and sole functionality 
M.T.I. provides over its “own” facilities (pursuant to a capital lease agreement with Re-
union Communications, Inc). M.T.I. provides all other services to customers through re-
sale of another wireless carrier’s services. Pursuant to Section 214(e) of the Federal 
Act, an ETC must offer supported services “…either using its own facilities or a combi-
nation of its own facilities and resale of another carrier’s services…”  As of July 1, 2012, 
M.T.I. will no longer be in compliance with this crucial federal statutory requirement. It 
will no longer be providing any USF eligible supported service using its own facilities as 
a wireless carrier. In order to continue to qualify to be an Illinois ETC, M.T.I. would need 
to procure additional facilities, or complete the process of receiving forbearance from 
the Section 214(e) federal statutory requirement from the FCC. Commission Staff 
claims that M.T.I. has not done so. 
 
FCC Rule 54.417  
 
 Staff further points to the following FCC requirement: 
 

§ 54.417 Recordkeeping Requirements. 
(a) Eligible telecommunications carriers must maintain records to docu-
ment compliance with all Commission and state requirements governing 
the Lifeline/Link Up programs for the three full preceding calendar years 
and provide that documentation to the Commission or Administrator upon 
request. (47 C.F.R. 54.417)(“Federal Rule 54.417”) 

 
The Commission’s March 9, 2011 Order in Docket 10-0524 (designating M.T.I. as a 
wireless ETC) requires that M.T.I. procure from each Lifeline customer, at the time of 
initial enrollment, proof of participation in one or more of the State or federal programs 
required for Lifeline eligibility. Staff believes that FCC Rule 54.417 requires M.T.I. to re-
tain copies of all such documentation establishing proof of Lifeline eligibility for a mini-
mum of three years. Staff claims that M.T.I. does not retain such records, and is there-
fore not in compliance with this recordkeeping requirement of FCC Rule 54.417. M.T.I. 
is to "comply fully with all provisions contained in 47 CFR Part 54.411, as well as other 
applicable requirements contained in 47 CFR Part 54." (Docket 10-0524 at p. 19) 
 
Eligibility for Linkup Subsidy Reimbursement 
 



 As Staff points out, under the March 9, 2011 Commission Order in Docket No. 
10-0524 designating M.T.I. an Illinois ETC, the company receives Linkup subsidy reim-
bursements. Staff argues that this Linkup subsidy eligibility should be rescinded by the 
Commission, regardless of the outcome of any investigation into M.T.I.’s overall status 
as an ETC. Staff states that the reasons supporting this argument are as follows: 
 

1) A number of wireless ETCs currently provide Lifeline services in Illinois 
without eligibility for Linkup subsidy payments. Receipt of such payments 
is not required for wireless ETCs to successfully serve Illinois Lifeline cus-
tomers. Linkup subsidy reimbursements paid to M.T.I. unnecessarily bur-
den the low income USF programs; 

 
2) The FCC does not grant Linkup subsidy eligibility to prepaid wireless car-

riers requesting Linkup subsidization; 
 
3) As a prepaid wireless reseller, M.T.I. does not incur the customer-specific 

connection costs Linkup subsidy payments are intended to defray; 
 
4) FCC ETC rules require that an ETC must establish a “customary” connec-

tion charge, and that Linkup reimbursements can be no more than one-
half of that customary charge. Staff claims that M.T.I. has established no 
such required customary connection charge. 

 
 Section 10-101 of the Public Utilities Act states in part: 
 

The Commission, or any commissioner or hearing examiner designated 
by the Commission, shall have power to hold investigations, inquiries and 
hearings concerning any matters covered by the provisions of this Act, or 
by any other Acts relating to public utilities subject to such rules and regu-
lations as the Commission may establish. 

 
The Commission is satisfied that the Staff Report dated December 29, 2011 provides 
an adequate basis to initiate an investigation into the alleged noncompliance of Mid-
western Telecommunications, Incorporated d/b/a M.T.I. compliance with requirements 
for eligible telecommunications carriers and into continuing eligibility for Linkup Subsidy 
Reimbursement. The Commission also notes that the following language appears in the 
Order granting M.T.I. ETC status: 
 

MTI will cooperate fully with any formal or informal Commission or Staff 
investigation or audit. (Docket 10-0524, Order at p. 19) 

 
The Commission expects that M.T.I. will comply with this language. 
 
 The Commission, being fully advised in the premises, is of the opinion and finds 
that:  
 



(1)  Midwestern Telecommunications, Incorporated is engaged in the business 
of providing telecommunications services to the public in the State of Illi-
nois and, as such, is a telecommunications carrier within the meaning of 
Section 13-202 of the Public Utilities Act;  

 
(2)  the Commission has jurisdiction over Midwestern Telecommunications, 

Incorporated d/b/a M.T.I. and the subject matter of this proceeding;  
 
(3)  the Staff Report dated December 29, 2011 should be made a part of the 

record of this proceeding;  
 
(4)  the recitals of fact set forth in the prefatory portion of this Order are sup-

ported by the record and are hereby adopted as findings of fact;  
 
(5)  the Commission should initiate a proceeding pursuant to Section 10-101 

of the Public Utilities Act to determine whether Midwestern Telecommuni-
cations, Incorporated d/b/a M.T.I. is in compliance with the requirements 
for eligible telecommunications carriers; 

 
(6) the Commission should determine whether it should rescind the Linkup 

subsidy eligibility currently distributed to Midwestern Telecommunications, 
Incorporated d/b/a M.T.I. 

 
 IT IS THEREFORE ORDERED by the Illinois Commerce Commission that a pro-
ceeding be initiated to determine whether Midwestern Telecommunications, Incorpo-
rated d/b/a M.T.I. has failed to comply with requirements for eligible telecommunica-
tions carriers, and its Illinois ETC designation rescinded. 
 
 IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that, in the event M.T.I.’s Illinois ETC designation is 
not rescinded, the Commission shall determine whether it should rescind the Linkup 
subsidy eligibility currently distributed to Midwestern Telecommunications, Incorporated 
d/b/a M.T.I. 
 
 IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that Midwestern Telecommunications, Incorporated 
d/b/a M.T.I. appear at a time and place established by the Administrative Law Judge or 
Judges appointed in this proceeding and present evidence as to the alleged failures to 
comply with the requirements of law alleged in the Staff Report dated December 29, 
2011. 
 
 IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that the Chief Clerk serve a copy of this Order on 
the designated agent of Midwestern Telecommunications, Incorporated d/b/a M.T.I. 
 
 IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that failure of Midwestern Telecommunications, In-
corporated d/b/a M.T.I.to appear as ordered may result in findings that it has failed to 
comply with the requirements of statutes, rules, and Commission orders detailed in the 



prefatory portion of this order and a finding that the Illinois Commerce Commission 
should rescind M.T.I.’s Illinois ETC designation.  
 
 IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that the Staff Report, dated December 29, 2011 be 
made a part of the record in this proceeding.  
 
 IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that this Order is not final; it is not subject to the 
Administrative Review Law. 
 
 By Order of the Commission this 10th day of January, 2012. 
 
 
 
 

(SIGNED) DOUGLAS P. SCOTT 
 

Chairman 
 


